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I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Kurt R. Killian, the Appellant, asks this Court to accept review of 

the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of 

this motion. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION  

Mr. Killian seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals 

issued on January 22, 2020.  A copy of this decision is attached, see App. 

at 1-21.  The Court of Appeals issued an order denying Mr. Killian’s motion 

for reconsideration on February 20, 2020.  A copy of this decision is 

attached, see App. at 22.   

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW  

1. Should this Court grant review and reverse when the trial court 
denied Mr. Killian’s motion to dismiss and allowed the state to 
reopen its case in chief immediately before he testified?   

2. Should this Court grant review and reverse when the prosecutor 
committed prejudicial misconduct during his opening statement?  

3.  Should this Court grant review and reverse when Mr. Killian 
received ineffective assistance during sentencing?   

 
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Kurt Killian and Christine Wilson were in a romantic relationship 

from about 2013 to 2017.  RP at 49-50.  They have known each other for 

many years and have an adult child together.  RP at 69-70.  In April 2017, 

their relationship ended.  RP at 50.  The district court entered a domestic 
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violence no-contact order listing Ms. Wilson as the protected party.  Ex. 6; 

RP at 50.   

A few months later, in October 2017, Mr. Killian received 

information that Ms. Wilson was deceased.  RP at 160-61.  Mr. Killian was 

in jail at the time.  RP at 160.  He received a phone call from his daughter 

telling him that Ms. Wilson was fatally hit by a truck while riding her bike.  

RP at 160-61.  The next day, Mr. Killian received another phone call, this 

time from his sister.  RP at 162-63.  His sister told Mr. Killian that his 

daughter lied; Ms. Wilson was still alive.  RP at 163.  Mr. Killian was 

confused, but ultimately believed his daughter.  RP at 164.   

Mr. Killian was released from jail on July 21, 2018.  RP at 165.  A 

week later, on July 28, 2019, he was walking along a public road towards 

his daughter’s workplace when he encountered Ms. Wilson.  RP at 166, 172.  

Ms. Wilson lived in a trailer along that road.  RP at 52, 74.  Mr. Killian was 

surprised to see her because he believed she was deceased.  RP at 165-66.  

According to both Ms. Wilson and Mr. Killian, they briefly exchanged 

words, then Mr. Killian left and walked towards a nearby park.  RP at 56, 

58, 172.  

According to Ms. Wilson, she was leaving her house when she saw 

Mr. Killian at the fence to her property, standing on the steps.  RP at 54-55.  

Mr. Killian told her “it was expired.”  RP at 56.  Ms. Wilson did not know 
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what that meant, but she was afraid and upset.  RP at 56.  She went to her 

neighbor’s house and asked him to call 911.  RP at 57-58.  Mr. Killian left 

immediately.  RP at 58.   

Mr. Killian denied saying anything to Ms. Wilson.  RP at 101.  

According to him, she told him to wait right there, then she left.  RP at 172.  

Mr. Killian expected Ms. Wilson to call the police, so he walked to a nearby 

park to wait for them.  Id.  A police officer arrived shortly after and arrested 

Mr. Killian.  RP at 97, 102, 177.   

The state charged Mr. Killian with violating a domestic violence no-

contact order.  CP 3-4.  The state elevated the charge to a felony due to Mr. 

Killian’s criminal history.  Id.  Five witnesses testified at trial:  Ms. Wilson; 

her neighbor, David Puckett; the police officer who arrested Mr. Killian, 

Deputy Bradley Crawford; the police officer who responded to Ms. 

Wilson’s house, Deputy Emily Holznagel; and Mr. Killian.  RP 48, 87, 92, 

123, 157.   

During opening statements, the prosecuting attorney made several 

comments on Mr. Killian’s guilt.  Near the beginning of his opening, the 

prosecutor said “I don’t want to promise you something beforehand” but 

“[h]ere’s what I think that the facts are going to show in this case.”  10/31/18 

RP at 15.  He then described the evidence the state planned to present during 

trial.  10/31/18 RP at 16-17.  At the end of his opening, the prosecutor 
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described this as a “very straightforward case.”  10/31/18 RP at 17.  He said 

that “[w]e have had some fun during jury selection. We have had some 

laughs, but it’s time to get serious at this point. A crime has been 

committed.”  Id.  He ended by stressing, “I believe that the only answer is 

the defendant is guilty.”  Id. 

At trial, Ms. Wilson testified that she and Mr. Killian previously 

resided together in an apartment in Tacoma.  RP at 72, 80-81.  After their 

relationship ended, she moved to a trailer.  RP at 52, 72.  She did not tell 

Mr. Killian her address.  RP at 81.  She did tell him that she was moving to 

Brookdale Mobile Home Park but did not tell him the unit number.  RP at 

61, 83.  Ms. Wilson’s name was not on her mailbox.  RP at 81.  However, 

her son’s car was parked in her driveway.  RP at 61-62.  Ms. Wilson 

believed that Mr. Killian recognized her son’s car.  Id.  

Mr. Puckett, Ms. Wilson’s neighbor, testified that Ms. Wilson came 

to his house and asked him to call 911.  RP at 87.  She appeared upset and 

was crying.  Id.  Mr. Puckett called 911, and then he and Ms. Wilson walked 

out to the road.  RP at 88.  They saw Mr. Killian walking away, at least 

1,000 yards away.  Id.  Mr. Killian did not turn around.  RP at 89.   

Two police officers also testified.  Deputy Crawford testified that he 

located Mr. Killian at the park down the street from Ms. Wilson’s house.  

RP at 97.  Mr. Killian answered all of Deputy Crawford’s questions.  RP at 
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107-09.  He did not fight or argue.  RP at 109.  Deputy Crawford arrested 

him.  RP at 102.  Deputy Holznagel testified that she responded to the 911 

dispatch by going to Ms. Wilson’s home.  RP at 124.  She met with Ms. 

Wilson, who appeared upset.  RP at 125.  

After Deputy Holznagel’s testimony, the state rested.  RP at 129.  

However, the state failed to prove every element of its case.  RP at 138.  The 

state charged Mr. Killian with felony violation of a no-contact order but 

failed to prove the criminal history necessary to elevate this offense from a 

misdemeanor.  Id.  At the beginning of the case, the parties agreed to 

stipulate to Mr. Killian’s criminal history.  RP at 22, 26-27.  The state did 

not offer this stipulation into evidence during its case in chief.  RP at 138. 

Mr. Killian moved to dismiss for failure to prove every element of 

the charged offense.  Id.  The state moved to reopen its case in chief in order 

to admit the stipulation.  RP at 139.  The trial court found no prejudice to 

Mr. Killian.  RP at 141.  The court denied Mr. Killian’s motion to dismiss 

and permitted the state to reopen its case.  RP at 141-42.  The stipulation 

was admitted into evidence and read to the jury immediately before Mr. 

Killian’s testimony.  RP at 156.  

Before he testified, Mr. Killian wanted to swear, not affirm, an oath 

on a Bible.  RP at 149-50, 153.  Mr. Killian attempted to bring a Bible to 

court, but the jail guards would not permit him to do so.  RP at 149.  The 
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trial court judge repeatedly said that he had no problem with Mr. Killian 

swearing an oath on a Bible.  RP at 149, 152.  However, trial counsel was 

not able to locate a Bible in the courthouse.  RP at 152.  Mr. Killian 

requested to at least “swear” his oath rather than “swear or affirm.”  RP at 

153.  The court was reluctant to deviate from the standard language, and 

Mr. Killian’s attorney dropped this request.  RP at 154-55.  In the end, Mr. 

Killian gave the standard oath.  RP at 157.  

Mr. Killian testified that he did not know where Ms. Wilson lived in 

July 2018.  RP at 168, 170.  After his phone call with his daughter, Mr. 

Killian believed Ms. Wilson was dead.  RP at 165.  He was not looking for 

her on July 28, 2018.  RP at 166.  Instead, Mr. Killian testified that he was 

walking along a public road on the way to see his daughter when he heard 

Ms. Wilson’s voice.  RP at 166, 172.  When he saw her, he realized she was 

alive and expected her to call the police.  RP at 172.  Mr. Killian testified 

that he then changed his route and went to a nearby park to wait for police 

officers.  RP at 172.   

The jury convicted Mr. Killian of felony violation of a no-contact 

order.  RP at 234.  His sentencing hearing took place on November 9, 2018.  

RP at 242.  Because of his criminal history, Mr. Killian’s mandatory 

minimum and maximum sentences were both 60 months.  RP at 250.  The 

state did not argue for an exceptional sentence.  RP at 243.   
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Mr. Killian’s brother and sister both spoke to the court at the 

sentencing hearing.  RP at 246-48.  According to them both, Mr. Killian 

suffers from mental illness and has been prescribed medication.  RP at 264, 

248.  His brother told the court that, without medication, Mr. Killian “see[s] 

demons.”  RP at 246-47.  With medication, Mr. Killian “still see[s] demons, 

but [he] knows that they are not real.”  RP at 246.  According to his siblings, 

Mr. Killian suffers from delusions and cannot accurately perceive reality.  

RP at 247.  His siblings also provided context about July 2018.  They told 

the court that Mr. Killian was released from jail without his medication and 

with “no place to go.”  RP at 247.  A week later, the incident with Ms. 

Wilson occurred.  RP at 165.   

Despite these statements, Mr. Killian’s attorney did not raise mental 

health or diminished capacity as mitigating factors at sentencing.  RP at 

244-45.  Mr. Killian’s attorney asked the judge to enter a sentence below 

the standard range but did not point to a specific mitigating circumstance to 

make this request.  Id.  The court trial sentenced Mr. Killian to 60 months 

confinement.  CP 109-122.  The court explained that “I don’t really have a 

lot of discretion here,” adding “there is no real basis for me to deviate 

downward.”  RP at 250, 252.  Mr. Killian appealed.  CP 123. 

The Court of Appeals issued a decision affirming Mr. Killian’s 

conviction on January 22, 2020.  App. at 1-2.  Mr. Killian filed a motion for 
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reconsideration.  The Court of Appeals denied his motion on February 20, 

2020.  App. at 22.  Mr. Killian seeks review.   

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Mr. Killian respectfully requests that the Washington Supreme 

Court grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals.  This Court grants 

review under four circumstances:  

(1)  If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 
a decision of the Supreme Court; or 
(2)  If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 
a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or 
(3)  If a significant question of law under the Constitution of 
the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; 
or 
(4)  If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13.4(b).  Here, review is appropriate under subsections (1), (2) and (3).   

This Court should grant review for three reasons.  First, the trial 

court abused its discretion and prejudiced Mr. Killian by allowing the state 

to reopen its case in chief immediately prior to his testimony.  The Court of 

Appeals upheld the trial court’s decision, contradicting the standard set 

forth in State v. Brinkley, 66 Wn. App. 844, 848, 837 P.2d 20 (1992).  See 

RAP 13.4(b)(2).  Second, the prosecutor committed misconduct during his 

opening statement.  The Court of Appeals misinterpreted State v. Torres, 16 

Wn. App. 254, 256, 554 P.2d 1069 (1976), to conclude that this misconduct 

was not prejudicial.  See RAP 13.4(b)(2).  Third, Mr. Killian received 
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ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing, violating his constitutional 

rights.  See RAP 13.4(b)(3).  The Court of Appeals misapplied State v. 

Linville, 191 Wn.2d 513, 525, 423 P.3d 842 (2018), to conclude that the 

record was insufficient to support Mr. Killian’s claim.  See RAP 13.4(b)(1).   

A. This Court Should Grant Review because the Trial Court Erred 
and Prejudiced Mr. Killian by Allowing the State to Reopen its 

Case in Chief.   

At the conclusion of the state’s case in chief, the state failed to 

establish all of the elements necessary to convict Mr. Killian of a felony.  

RP at 138.  Specifically, the state failed to prove that Mr. Killian had prior 

felony convictions, elevating violation of a no-contact order from a 

misdemeanor to a felony.  Id.  The parties had agreed to a stipulation, but 

the prosecutor neglected to offer it for admission during the state’s case in 

chief.  RP at 22, 129, 138.  Mr. Killian moved to dismiss the charge.  RP at 

138.  The trial court denied his motion and allowed the state to reopen its 

case in chief.  RP at 142.   

This Court should grant review because the trial court’s decision 

contradicted published decisions of the Court of Appeals.  RAP 13.4(b)(2).  

Specifically, the trial court erred and abused its discretion because 

reopening the state’s case in chief unfairly prejudiced Mr. Killian.  See 

Brinkley, 66 Wn. App. at 848.   
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Usually, the decision about whether to grant a motion to reopen and 

allow a party to introduce additional evidence falls within the trial court’s 

discretion.  State v. Sanchez, 60 Wn. App. 687, 696, 806 P.2d 782 (1991). 

Appellate courts review that decision for abuse of discretion.  Id.  A court 

abuses its discretion when it decides an issue on untenable grounds or for 

untenable reasons.  Id.   

To demonstrate that a ruling on a motion to reopen was reversible 

error, the moving party must show both abuse of discretion and prejudice.  

Brinkley, 66 Wn. App. at 848.  Prejudice results when allowing the state to 

reopen its case creates potential unfairness or places the defendant at a 

disadvantage.  See id. at 850.  Relevant factors include (1) whether the 

defendant had excused witnesses who would have rebutted the new 

evidence; (2) whether the State had deliberately withheld evidence; (3) 

whether the defendant’s case suffered more harm than had the evidence 

been offered at the proper time; (4) whether the trial court provided time for 

the defendant to continue the case, interview additional witnesses, and put 

on rebuttal witnesses; (5) whether the new evidence was highly technical; 

and (6) whether the nature of the testimony and the stage of the trial might 

place undue emphasis on it.  Id. at 850-51.   

Here, the trial court allowed the state to reopen its case and denied 

Mr. Killian’s motion to dismiss.  RP at 142.  The Court of Appeals upheld 
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this decision, determining that the trial court acted within its discretion.  

App. at 7-8.  The trial court and the Court of Appeals erred because the 

sequence of events at trial placed an undue emphasis on the felony 

stipulation, prejudicing Mr. Killian.  See Brinkley, 66 Wn. App. at 850.  

The state rested its case in chief in front of the jury.  RP at 129.  The 

trial court then permitted the state to reopen its case and admit the 

stipulation.  RP at 143, 156-57.  The court read the stipulation right before 

Mr. Killian testified.  RP at 156.  The timing harmed Mr. Killian more than 

if it was presented at the proper time because it presented the jury with his 

felony convictions right before Mr. Killian testified.  See Brinkley, 66 Wn. 

App. at 850.  This prejudiced Mr. Killian by undermining his credibility, 

unfairly placing him at a disadvantage.  Id.  This Court should grant review 

and reverse.   See RAP 13.4(b)(2).   

B. This Court Should Grant Review because the Prosecutor’s 
Misconduct During Opening Statements Prejudiced Mr. 

Killian.   

This Court should also grant review because the Court of Appeals 

misinterpreted a published decision.  See RAP 13.4(b)(2).  Mr. Killian 

challenged two different statements made by the prosecutor during his 

opening statement.  The Court of Appeals concluded that one of these 

statements amounted to misconduct, but the other statement did not.  App. 

at 14.  The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Killian was not prejudiced by a 
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single instance of misconduct.  Id.  This Court should grant review because 

the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the relevant caselaw to reach these 

conclusions.  In fact, Mr. Killian was prejudiced by two instances of 

misconduct during the prosecutor’s opening statement.   

The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the United 

State and Washington Constitutions.  U.S. Const. amend.s VI, XIV; Wash. 

Const. art. I, § 22; Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S.Ct. 1691 

(1976); State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 843, 975 P.2d 967 (1999).  A “‘[f]air 

trial’ certainly implies a trial in which the attorney representing the state 

does not throw the prestige of his public office . . . and the expression of his 

own belief of guilt into the scales against the accused.’”  State v. Monday, 

171 Wn.2d 667, 677, 257 P.3d 551 (2011) (alteration in original) (quoting 

State v. Case, 49 Wn.2d 66, 71, 298 P.2d 500 (1956)). 

In order to prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, a 

defendant must show that the prosecutor’s conduct was both improper and 

prejudicial.  State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011).  

Prejudice requires showing a substantial likelihood that the misconduct 

affected the jury verdict.  State v. Ish, 170 Wn.2d 189, 195, 241 P.3d 389 

(2010).  Because Mr. Killian did not object, he must show that an instruction 

would not have cured the prejudice.  Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 443.   
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Here, during his opening statement, the prosecutor stated, “I believe 

that the only answer is the defendant is guilty.”  10/31/18 RP at 17.  The 

Court of Appeals properly concluded that this amounted to misconduct.  

App. at 14.  However, the prosecutor also stated, “a crime has been 

committed.”  10/31/18 RP at 17.  Relying on Torres, 16 Wn. App. 254, this 

Court concluded this statement did not amount to prosecutorial misconduct.  

App. at 14.   

The Court of Appeals erred by misinterpreting the relevant quote 

from Torres.  The Court of Appeals concluded that “we have previously 

stated that it is not misconduct for a prosecutor to state that ‘the defendant 

is guilty’ in an opening statement.”  App. at 14 (citing Torres, 16 Wn. App. 

at 256 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. O’Donnell, 191 

Wn. 511, 71 P.2d 571 (1937)).  The quote is accurate, but it does not support 

the Court of Appeals’ conclusion.    

Torres quoted a passage from another decision, O’Donnell, 191 Wn. 

at 513-14, which in turn quoted State v. Pryor, 67 Wn. 216, 219, 121 P. 56 

(1912).  The original passage reads as follows:   

“It may be that the defendant is guilty.  On that we 
express no opinion.  It must be remembered, 
however, that ‘though unfair means may happen to 
result in doing justice to the prisoner in the particular 
case, yet, justice so attained, is unjust and dangerous 
to the whole community.’”   
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Pryor, 67 Wn. at 219 (quoting Hurd v. People, 25 Mich. 405, 416 (1872)).   

Pryor, O’Donnell, and Torres all addressed prosecutorial 

misconduct during opening statements, but these cases do not support the 

Court of Appeals’ conclusions.  In all three cases, the prosecutor expressed 

an opinion on guilt or urged the jury to convict based on other bad acts.  

Also, in all three cases the Courts reversed based on pervasive misconduct, 

in opening statements, closing arguments, and testimony.   

In Pryor, the defendant was charged with performing an abortion on 

his girlfriend.  67 Wn. at 216.  During his opening statement, the prosecutor 

said that the state would prove that the defendant forced the complaining 

witness to engage in intercourse and sodomy.  Id. at 217.  The Court 

reversed, holding that the defendant did not receive a fair trial.  Id. at 219.  

The Court held that “[t]hese errors were so vital and the effect of the 

incompetent evidence from its very nature so prejudicial that we cannot say 

that they were cured by the order to strike and the instruction to disregard.”  

Id.  In this context, the Court stated, “It may be that the defendant is guilty.  

On that we express no opinion.”  Id.  The “we” in this passage refers to the 

Court, not to a statement by the prosecutor.  The Court concluded that the 

defendant was still entitled to fair proceedings, regardless of his guilt.  Id. 

at 219-20.   
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In O’Donnell, the prosecutor stated in his opening that the 

defendants had criminal records and urged the jury to convict in part on that 

basis.  191 Wn. at 512-13.  The Court reversed, holding that the prosecutor 

committed misconduct.  Id. at 513.  The Court determined that “[t]hese 

remarks of the prosecuting attorney, made at the initial stage of the trial, 

were highly improper and, beyond question, prejudicial to the appellants, 

so much so that, whether guilty or innocent, they could not thereafter have 

had a fair trial.”  Id.  To support its decision, the O’Donnell Court quoted 

Pryor, as described above.  Id.  

In Torres, the prosecutor also committed misconduct during his 

opening statement.  16 Wn. App. at 258.  The prosecutor suggested that the 

defendant, charged with rape, could also have been charged with burglary.  

Id. at 256.  The Court held that “[t]his suggestion was uncalled for and asked 

the jury to infer that the defendant . . . was guilty of other crimes not charged 

in the information.”  Id.  The Court reversed, quoting Pryor and O’Donnell 

extensively.  Id. at 256-57.   

Contrary to the Court of Appeals’ decision, none of the prosecutors 

in Torres, Pryor, or O’Donnell stated “the defendant is guilty” during 

opening statements.  None of these decisions approved of or condoned such 

a statement.  Instead, the Courts in all three cases reversed because the 
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prosecutor committed misconduct during opening statements by expressing 

an opinion on guilt or by urging the jury to convict on an improper basis.     

In this case, the prosecutor declared in his opening that “a crime has 

been committed.”  10/31/18 RP at 17.  This amounted to an opinion of Mr. 

Killian’s guilt.  Similarly, the prosecutor expressed his opinion by stating “I 

believe the only answer is the defendant is guilty.”  10/31/18 RP at 17.  The 

prosecutor’s misconduct prejudiced Mr. Killian by repeatedly throwing the 

weight of his authority behind his opinions, not the evidence.  “[T]he 

cumulative effect of repetitive prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct may be 

so flagrant that no instruction or series of instructions can erase their 

combined prejudicial effect.”  State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 737, 265 

P.3d 191 (2011). 

The Court of Appeals held that “the prosecutor did not repeatedly 

state his personal opinion on Killian’s guilt, and the prosecutor’s one remark 

regarding his personal opinion of guilt during opening statement did not 

result in prejudice that requires a new trial.”  App. at 14.  However, it was 

not just one remark.  Like in Torres, O’Donnell, and Pryor, the prosecutor 

committed several instances of misconduct, and an instruction could not 

have cured the resulting prejudice.  This Court should grant review and 

reverse.   
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C. This Court Should Grant Review because Mr. Killian’s 
Attorney Provided Ineffective Assistance by Failing to 

Investigate Mental Health as a Mitigating Factor at Sentencing.   

This Court should also grant review because Mr. Killian received 

ineffective assistance of counsel, violating his constitutional rights.  See 

RAP 13.4(b)(3).  Specifically, Mr. Killian’s trial counsel failed to 

investigate a possible mental health defense.  Relying on Linville, 191 

Wn.2d at 525, the Court of Appeals held that “the record on appeal does not 

make clear what investigation Killian’s counsel may have conducted” 

therefore “we are not in a position to analyze this claim.”  App. at 18.  This 

Court should also grant review because the Court of Appeals misapplied 

Linville.  See RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

Every criminal defendant has a constitutional right to effective 

assistance of counsel.  Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 

S.Ct. 2052 (1984); State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77, 917 P.2d 563 

(1996).  A claim of ineffective assistance presents a mixed question of fact 

and law reviewed de novo.  In re Pers. Restraint of Fleming, 142 Wn.2d 

853, 865, 16 P.3d 610 (2001).  Ineffective assistance occurs when (1) 

counsel’s performance was deficient, and (2) this deficient performance 

prejudiced the client.  Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d at 77.   

Effective assistance of counsel includes a duty to adequately 

investigate potential mental health defenses.  State v. Fedoruk, 184 Wn. 
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App. 866, 880, 339 P.3d 233 (2014).  Generally, courts will not find counsel 

ineffective for “strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law 

and facts relevant to plausible options.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91.  

However, counsel may be ineffective by making strategic choices “after less 

than complete investigation.” Id.  Prejudice occurs when, but for the 

deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome 

would have differed.  In re Pers. Restraint of Pirtle, 136 Wn.2d 467, 487, 

965 P.2d 593 (1998).   

Here, Mr. Killian’s trial counsel performed deficiently by failing to 

investigate his mental capacity as a mitigating factor at sentencing.  At the 

sentencing hearing, Mr. Killian’s brother and his sister both discussed his 

serious mental health issues.  RP at 246-48.  Under these circumstances, 

reasonable trial counsel would have investigated diminished capacity as a 

mitigating factor for sentencing.  See RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e).  Mr. Killian 

suffered prejudice because there was a reasonable probability of a different 

sentence had counsel raised diminished capacity as a mitigating 

circumstance.   

The Court of Appeals in this case did not reach Mr. Killian’s 

ineffective assistance claim, concluding that there was an insufficient record 

of the investigation counsel conducted.  App. at 18.  The Court relied on 
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Linville, 191 Wn.2d at 525, for this conclusion.  Id.  The Court of Appeals 

erred by misapplying this case.   

In Linville, the defendant was charged with leading organized crime 

in violation of Washington’s Criminal Profiteering Act (CPA), along with 

137 other offenses.  Linville, 191 Wn.2d at 516.  The state improperly joined 

some of those offenses, contrary to the CPA’s joinder bar.  Id. at 517.  At 

trial, defense counsel failed to object to the joinder.  Id. at 524.  This Court 

held that the defendant failed to prove that counsel was ineffective because 

“joinder may have benefited the defendant more than having multiple 

separate trials and risking multiple separate convictions and sentencings.”  

Id. at 524-25.  Additionally, “[n]o other evidence on counsel’s strategic or 

tactical decisions was presented in the courts below.”  Id. at 525.  Based on 

this record, the Court could not conclude that counsel was ineffective.  Id.   

Here, the Court of Appeals held that “we cannot determine from the 

record whether and to what degree counsel actually explored raising a claim 

pertaining to Killian’s mental health as a mitigating circumstance at 

sentencing,” citing Linville.  App. at 18.  Linville is distinguishable because 

in that case, there were possible strategic reasons for failing to object to 

joinder.  Linville, 191 Wn.2d at 524-25.  Similarly, there may have been 

strategic reasons for Mr. Killian to reject a plea agreement or mental health 

court.  See App. at 18.  However, once he was convicted, counsel did not 
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have a strategic or tactical reason not to explore and present mental health 

as a mitigating factor, particularly when Mr. Killian’s relatives discussed 

his chronic mental health issues.   Here, unlike in Linville, Mr. Killian 

demonstrated “the absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons 

supporting the challenged conduct by counsel.”  State v. Crawford, 159 

Wn.2d 86, 98, 147 P.3d 1288 (1999).  This Court should grant review and 

reverse. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Mr. Killian respectfully requests that the Washington Supreme 

Court grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals.   

 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 19th day of March, 2020. 

 
_________________________________ 
STEPHANIE TAPLIN 
WSBA No. 47850 
Attorney for Appellant, Kurt R. Killian    
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 CRUSER, J.  ²  Kurt R. Killian appeals his conviction for felony violation of a domestic 

violence postconviction no-contact order.  Killian argues that (1) the trial court erred when it 

denied his motion to dismiss and granted the State¶s motion to reopen its case in chief to present 

evidence of an agreed stipulation to Killian¶s prior convictions, (2) the trial court denied his request 

to swear an oath on a Bible, which violated his constitutional right to free exercise of religion, (3) 

the prosecutor committed prejudicial misconduct during his opening statement by repeatedly 

e[pressing his personal opinion as to Killian¶s guilt, (4) insufficient evidence supports his 

conviction because the State did not prove that he knowingly violated the no-contact order, (5) he 

received ineffective assistance of counsel because his counsel failed to investigate Killian¶s mental 

illness and raise diminished capacity as a mitigating circumstance at sentencing, and (6) even if 
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each error raised on appeal is insufficient for reversal, their cumulative effect denied him a fair 

trial.  Killian also filed a statement of additional grounds (SAG).    

 We hold that (1) the trial court properl\ granted the State¶s motion to reopen its case in 

chief, (2) the trial court did not deny his request to swear his oath on a Bible, (3) the prosecutor 

did not commit prejudicial misconduct during his opening statement that warrants reversal, (4) 

sufficient evidence supports Killian¶s conviction, (5) the record is insufficient to review Killian¶s 

ineffective assistance of counsel claim, (6) Killian received a fair trial, and (7) the claims raised in 

Killian¶s SAG do not warrant review.  Accordingl\, we affirm.  

FACTS 

 Killian and Christine Wilson were in a romantic relationship from 2013 to 2017 and share 

one child together.  On April 25, 2017, the Pierce County District Court issued a domestic violence 

no-contact order restraining Killian from having any contact with Wilson.  The order barred Killian 

from knowingly entering or remaining within 500 feet of Wilson¶s residence.  The order remained 

in effect until April 25, 2019.   

 On July 28, 2018, Wilson stepped outside of her mobile home and saw Killian standing on 

her front steps.  Killian had opened Wilson¶s gate and was standing on the second step of a set of 

stairs leading to Wilson¶s front door.  Wilson told Killian that he could not be there and that he 

had to leave.  Killian said he wanted to tell Wilson something and that ³it was e[pired.´  2 Verbatim 

Report of Proceedings (VRP) at 56.  Wilson went to her neighbor¶s mobile home and called the 

police.   
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 Wilson previously told Killian that she lived in Brookdale Mobile Home Park, but she did 

not tell him which mobile home she lived in.  On the da\ in question, Wilson¶s son¶s car was 

parked near her home.  Killian is familiar with Wilson¶s son¶s car.   

 Killian was arrested at a nearby park for violation of the no-contact order.  Killian told the 

arresting officer that he was on his way to see his daughter at her workplace, which was located 

near Wilson¶s residence.  Killian said that when he was walking, he saw Wilson standing on her 

front porch.  Killian told the officer that he did not speak to Wilson, but Wilson told him that she 

would be back and went back inside her home.  Killian said he left immediatel\.  Killian¶s path of 

travel from Wilson¶s home to the park was not in the direction of his daughter¶s workplace.   

 The State charged Killian with one count of felony violation of domestic violence 

postconviction no-contact order.  The charge was a felony because Killian has two prior 

convictions for violating no-contact orders.  The matter proceeded to trial at which the witnesses 

testified consistentl\ with the facts above.  Before trial, the parties stipulated to Killian¶s two prior 

convictions for violating no-contact orders.  The stipulation read,  

 On July 28, 2018, beyond a reasonable doubt, the defendant had two 
previous convictions for violating court orders issued under Revised Code of 
Washington, Chapters 10.99 or 26.50.  Christine Wilson was not the subject in the 
two previous orders. 

 
Clerk¶s Papers (CP) at 73.   

 During the State¶s opening statement, the State summarized the case by walking the jurors 

through the evidence it intended to present at trial.  Following the State¶s summar\, the State made 

the following remarks without objection from defense counsel:  

 Ladies and gentlemen, this is going to be a very straightforward case. . . . A 
crime has been committed. 
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 At the end of the State¶s case, . . . the State will ask \ou to find the defendant 
guilty of violating a domestic violence restraining order.  I believe that the only 
answer is the defendant is guilty.  Thank you.  

 
VRP (Oct. 31, 2018) at 17.   

 After the State rested its case, Killian moved to dismiss the charge because the State did 

not introduce the parties¶ stipulation, therefore the State did not prove an essential element of a 

felony violation of a no-contact order.  The State moved to reopen its case in chief in order for the 

court to read the parties¶ stipulation to the jur\.  When the court asked defense counsel what 

prejudice Killian would suffer if the court allowed the State to reopen its case to have the 

stipulation read to the jur\, defense counsel responded simpl\ that ³[t]he trial continues´ as 

opposed to the case being dismissed.  2 VRP at 140.  The court denied Killian¶s motion to dismiss 

and granted the State¶s motion to reopen its case, concluding that reopening the case would not 

cause Killian any prejudice.  The court then read the stipulation to the jury.   

 Killian testified.  Before Killian took the witness stand, he requested that he be sworn in 

by placing his hand on a Bible.  Killian stated that without a Bible, ³[i]t would be a hollow oath to 

me.´  3 VRP at 150.  The court granted his request, but stated that the court did not have a Bible.  

Killian also did not have a Bible because he was not permitted to take his Bible from jail to court 

with him that morning.  Killian¶s counsel asked the court for 10 minutes to search the court¶s law 

librar\ for a Bible, and the court granted his request.  When Killian¶s counsel returned, the 

following colloquy occurred:  

 [Defense Counsel]:  Your Honor, I could not locate a Bible.  Just for the 
record, the Law Library does not maintain a Bible.  I have explained that to my 
client.  We are ready to proceed with the swearing in as normal.  We would like the 
court to use the oath language rather than affirmation language. . . . 
 . . . . 
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 [Killian] would prefer the ³swear´ -- he is not affirming.  He wants the -- 
see, it can be given in that alternative.  If someone doesn¶t want to swear under the 
penalt\ of perjur\, it¶s the affirmation.  He wants the swearing language, not the 
affirmation language, if that makes sense. 
 . . . . 
 THE COURT: . . . [P]ersonall\, I don¶t have a problem with it.  What I¶m 
concerned about is, . . .  
 If I say that Mr. Killian has to swear and not affirm, when I have done that 
to all of the other witnesses, it ma\ appear to the jur\ that I¶m singling him out in 
some way and that may strike some of the jurors as a comment by me on Mr. 
Killian¶s truthfulness. . . .   
 [Defense Counsel]:  I understand, Your Honor.  I don¶t want to complicate 
something that we are so close to finishing up.  I will defer to the court.   
 . . . . 
 THE COURT:  I¶m afraid of biasing against Mr. Killian, if I do that.  That 
is my concern.  Later on in an appeal, if he should be convicted, then that is 
something else that is fodder there.  
 . . . . 
 [Defense Counsel]:  I agree with the court.  I would ask the court to swear 
Mr. Killian no different than any other previous witnesses.   

 
Id. at 153-55.   

 Killian was then sworn in.  Killian testified that in October 2017, he called his daughter 

and she told him that Wilson was deceased.  Sometime after this phone call, Killian¶s sister called 

him and told him that his daughter lied and Wilson is not deceased.  Killian testified that he 

believed his daughter¶s stor\ because his daughter ³works a quarter of a mile awa\ from [Wilson¶s] 

house.´  Id. at 164.   

 Killian stated that on the da\ in question, he was in the area near Wilson¶s residence 

because he was walking to his daughter¶s workplace.  While walking, he heard Wilson¶s voice 

behind him.  He turned around, saw Wilson, and told her that he was leaving.  According to Killian, 

Wilson told Killian to ³µ[w]ait right here,¶´ but Killian continued and walked to a nearb\ park to 

wait for the police.  Id. at 172.  Killian denied any knowledge of where Wilson lived.  He also 

denied approaching Wilson¶s mobile home or entering the gate outside of Wilson¶s home.   
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 After the defense rested, the court instructed the jurors that the law\er¶s statements are not 

evidence and any remark not supported by the evidence must be disregarded.  The jury found 

Killian guilty of felony violation of a domestic violence no-contact order.  The jury also found that 

Killian and Wilson were members of the same household.   

 At sentencing, Killian¶s counsel asked the court to impose an e[ceptional sentence below 

the standard range because based on the facts presented at trial, it appeared that Killian was not 

stalking or seeking out Wilson and the crime did not involve any threats or physical violence.  

Killian¶s offender score was 24 and his mandator\ sentence was 60 months, the top of the 

sentencing range.  Killian acknowledged that he was not basing his request for a downward 

departure on any of the enumerated mitigating factors in RCW 9.94A.535(1).   

 Killian¶s sister and brother addressed the court at the sentencing hearing.  Both siblings 

stated that Killian suffers from a diagnosed mental illness.  His brother stated that Killian sees 

demons, and when he is not taking his medication, Killian believes the demons are real.  He stated 

that Killian¶s abilit\ to recogni]e realit\ when he is on his medication changes drastically.  Both 

siblings stated that the week of the incident, Killian was released from jail without his medication 

and without any resources.   

 Following his siblings¶ statements, the court asked Killian if there was an\thing he would 

like to add.  Killian stated, ³I asked about mental health court, and I just have a hard time making 

a decision.  Even when I¶m on m\ medication, an\ plea agreements -- I couldn¶t weigh them out.´  

5 VRP at 249. 
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 The court considered Killian¶s siblings¶ statements, but noted that Killian ³behaved 

completel\ appropriatel\´ throughout trial.  Id.  The court sentenced Killian within the standard 

range because ³there is no real basis for me to deviate downward.´   Id. at 252.   

 Killian appeals his judgment and sentence.  

DISCUSSION 

I.  MOTION TO REOPEN 

 Killian argues that the trial court erred by denying his motion to dismiss and by granting 

the State¶s motion to reopen its case in chief in order to allow the State to introduce the stipulation 

of Killian¶s prior convictions.  The State argues that the trial court properl\ reopened the State¶s 

case because Killian had already agreed to the admissibility of the stipulation, and Killian fails to 

demonstrate that he suffered prejudice from the trial court¶s ruling.  We agree with the State.  

 A motion to reopen a case to present further evidence is a matter within the discretion of 

the trial court.  State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 711, 903 P.2d 960 (1995) (quoting State v. 

Sanchez, 60 Wn. App. 687, 696, 806 P.2d 782 (1991)).  We uphold a trial court¶s ruling unless the 

complaining party can show a manifest abuse of discretion and that it suffered prejudice.  State v. 

Brinkley, 66 Wn. App. 844, 848, 837 P.2d 20 (1992).  Factors to consider to determine whether 

the court abused its discretion when reopening the State¶s case include (1) whether rebuttal 

witnesses have been dismissed, (2) whether the State deliberately waited until the last moment to 

present evidence, (3) whether the complaining party suffered more than if the evidence had been 

presented properly, and (4) whether the complaining party has an adequate opportunity to rebut 

the additional evidence.  Id. at 850.  
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 It is well established that a trial court may allow the State to reopen its case to present 

additional evidence after the defense has moved for dismissal based on insufficient evidence.  Id. 

at 848 (citing In re Estes v. Hopp, 73 Wn.2d 263, 264-65, 438 P.2d 205 (1968); State v. Vickers, 

18 Wn. App. 111, 113, 567 P.2d 675 (1977); City of Seattle v. Heath, 10 Wn. App. 949, 953, 520 

P.2d 1392 (1973)).  Therefore, the trial court does not per se abuse its discretion by allowing the 

prosecution ³to present additional evidence to resolve deficiencies in its case pointed out b\ the 

defendant.´  Id. 

 Here, Killian concedes that three of the four factors set forth in Brinkley do not weigh in 

his favor.  Killian argues that the trial court abused its discretion b\ granting the State¶s motion to 

reopen its case because the presentation of the stipulation immediatel\ prior to Killian¶s testimon\ 

placed undue emphasis on his prior convictions.  Killian argues that this caused him prejudice 

because it undermined his credibility and placed him at an unfair disadvantage.   

 Killian stipulated to the presentation of evidence during the State¶s case in chief.  The 

record does not indicate that the State made a calculated decision to hold the stipulation back or 

that the State willfully withheld the stipulation in order to place Killian at a disadvantage.  Further, 

Killian does not point to any evidence in the record that shows that the impact of the court reading 

the stipulation regarding his prior convictions was intensified due to the timing of its presentation.  

Because Killian had already stipulated to the presentation of his prior convictions in the State¶s 

case in chief and the record is devoid of any disadvantage suffered by Killian due to the timing of 

its presentation, we hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when den\ing Killian¶s 

motion to dismiss and granting the State¶s motion to reopen its case in chief.  
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II.  THE FREE EXERCISE OF RELIGION 

 Killian argues that the trial court denied Killian¶s requests to swear an oath on a Bible and 

³in the manner of his choice,´ which violated his constitutional right to free exercise of religion.  

Br. of Appellant at 13 (capitalization and bold omitted).  The State contends that Killian 

mischaracterizes the record because the trial court permitted Killian to swear an oath on the Bible 

and in his preferred manner.  We hold that the trial court neither denied nor failed to accommodate 

Killian¶s request to swear his oath on a Bible and in a manner of his choice before testif\ing and 

therefore did not deny Killian his right to free exercise of his religion.  We further hold that because 

Killian withdrew his requests, Killian¶s claim is barred because Killian waived an\ error.   

 Killian¶s first claim of error is that the court refused to accommodate Killian¶s request to 

swear his testimonial oath on a Bible.  Killian takes significant liberty with the record in support 

of his claim.  In response to his request to swear his oath on a Bible, the trial court granted the 

request.  However, the trial court did not have a Bible in the courtroom.  Killian claims that ³[t]he 

judge gave Mr. Killian¶s attorne\ ten minutes to find a Bible in the courthouse law librar\. . . . 

When the attorne\ could not locate a Bible, the trial court pressed on with proceedings.´  Br. of 

Appellant at 18.  This is largely a misrepresentation of the record. 

 It was defense counsel who specifically suggested he be given 10 minutes to go look for a 

Bible, and the trial court accommodated this request.  When a Bible could not be located in the 

law library, it was defense counsel who suggested the court proceed without one.  Upon returning 

from his search for a Bible, defense counsel said, ³Your Honor, I could not locate a Bible.  Just 

for the record, the Law Library does not maintain a Bible.  I have explained that to my client.  We 
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are ready to proceed with the swearing in as normal.´  3 VRP at 153 (emphasis added).  Killian 

plainly abandoned his request to procure a Bible.  

 Still, Killian argues in his brief that ³[g]etting a Bible for Mr. Killian would likel\ take an 

hour´ or, ³[a]t the very most, proceedings would have been delayed a day so that Mr. Killian could 

bring his Bible from jail.´  Br. of Appellant at 19.  But defense counsel never asked the trial court 

for such an accommodation.  Further, there is nothing in the record to suggest counsel could not 

have asked for a longer period of time to locate a Bible or that upon failing to find a Bible, counsel 

could not have asked for more time or, perhaps, a short recess.  It is incorrect to imply, by stating 

the trial court ³pressed on´ with the proceedings, that the trial court had in some way indicated it 

would not make further accommodation.  Id. at 18.  The accommodation that Killian requested 

was precisely the accommodation he received, and any suggestion otherwise lacks merit. 

 Even if an issue of constitutional magnitude may be raised for the first time on appeal, that 

right ma\ be waived or abandoned b\ withdrawing one¶s request.  State v. Massey, 60 Wn. App. 

131, 139, 803 P.2d 340 (1990) (challenge to an investigative stop was deemed waived or 

abandoned where the record did not indicate that the motion to exclude evidence was pursued); 

State v. Valladares, 31 Wn. App. 63, 75-76, 639 P.2d 813 (1982) (challenge to a warrantless search 

was deemed waived or abandoned where motion to suppress was withdrawn), aff¶d in part, rev¶d 

in part, 99 Wn.2d 663, 664 P.2d 508 (1983).  Killian waived his claim that the trial court either 

denied his request to swear his oath on a Bible or failed to accommodate him in his search for a 

Bible.  
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 Killian¶s second claim of error is that the trial court refused his request to swear his oath 

³in the manner of his choice.´  Br. of Appellant at 13 (capitali]ation and bold omitted).  Again, 

Killian misrepresents the record.  Killian¶s counsel said to the court that 

[h]e would prefer the ³swear´ -- he is not affirming.  He wants the -- see, it can be 
given in that alternative.  If someone doesn¶t want to swear under the penalt\ of 
perjur\, it¶s the affirmation.  He wants the swearing language, not the affirmation 
language, if that makes sense. 

 
3 VRP at 153.  

 In response to Killian¶s request, the trial court e[pressed its concern that because it had 

sworn in the other witnesses b\ asking if the\ ³swear or affirm´ it might look to the jur\ as though 

it was requiring something special of Killian, which in turn might be taken as a comment on 

Killian¶s truthfulness.  Id. at 154.  The trial court did not den\ Killian¶s request.  Rather, upon 

expressing this concern, defense counsel immediately withdrew his request for a different oath and 

said, ³I understand, Your Honor.  I don¶t want to complicate something that we are so close to 

finishing up. . . . You can give the language as an\ other witness.´  Id.  After a few more remarks 

by the trial court explaining that it full\ respected Killian¶s position but did not want to do an\thing 

to prejudice Killian¶s right to a fair trial, defense counsel said, ³I agree with the court.  I would ask 

the court to swear in Mr. Killian no different than an\ other previous witnesses.´  Id. at 155.  Again, 

Killian withdrew his request, therefore he waived any claim of error.  Massey, 60 Wn. App. at 139; 

Valladares, 31 Wn. App. at 75-76.   

 We hold that the trial court neither denied nor failed to accommodate Killian¶s request to 

swear his oath on a Bible and in a manner of his choice because Killian withdrew his requests.  

Consequentl\, we decline to address Killian¶s free e[ercise of religion argument as his claim is 

waived.  
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III.  PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 

 Killian argues that the prosecutor committed prejudicial misconduct by repeatedly stating 

his personal opinion about Killian¶s guilt during his opening statement.  The State contends that 

Killian waived his ability to raise this claim because he failed to object at trial, and even so, the 

prosecutor did not commit misconduct because he reasonably commented on what the State 

intended its evidence to show.  The State also argues that Killian cannot show that the potential 

prejudice could not have been obviated by a curative instruction.  We conclude that the prosecutor 

improperl\ e[pressed his personal opinion on Killian¶s guilt on one occasion, but agree with the 

State and hold that any prejudice could have been obviated by a curative instruction.   

A.  LEGAL PRINCIPLES  

 In a prosecutorial misconduct claim, the defendant bears the burden of proving that the 

prosecutor¶s conduct was both improper and prejudicial.  State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 191, 

189 P.3d 126 (2008).  We review the prosecutor¶s conduct and whether prejudice resulted 

therefrom ³in the conte[t of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in 

the argument, and the instructions given to the jur\.´  State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 

P.2d 546 (1997).      

 Because Killian failed to object at trial, his claim is waived on appeal unless the misconduct 

was so flagrant and ill intentioned that it evinces an enduring prejudice the trial court could not 

have cured by an instruction.  State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).  Killian 

must show that (1) a curative instruction would not have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury 

and (2) there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury¶s verdict.  State v. 
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Scherf, 192 Wn.2d 350, 398, 429 P.3d 776 (2018) (quoting State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 

278 P.3d 653 (2012)).    

B.  PREJUDICE  

 The State said the following during opening statement:  

 Ladies and gentlemen, this is going to be a very straightforward case. . . . A 
crime has been committed. 
 At the end of the State¶s case, . . . the State will ask \ou to find the defendant 
guilty of violating a domestic violence restraining order.  I believe that the only 
answer is the defendant is guilty.  

 
VRP (Oct. 31, 2018) at 17 (emphasis added).  Killian¶s counsel did not object.  

 Killian contends that the prosecutor improperly expressed his personal opinion during his 

opening statement when he said that ³µa crime has been committed¶´ and ³µI believe that the onl\ 

answer is the defendant is guilt\.¶´  Br. of Appellant at 20 (quoting VRP (Oct. 31, 2018) at 17).  

The State contends that the prosecutor did not commit misconduct because he reasonably 

commented on what the State intended its evidence to show.   

 The prosecution should confine opening statements ³to a brief statement of the issues of 

the case, an outline of the anticipated material evidence, and reasonable inferences to be drawn 

therefrom.´  State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 16, 691 P.2d 929 (1984).  In presenting this 

statement, a prosecutor must avoid argumentative and inflammatory remarks, as well as 

expressions of personal belief.  State v. Torres, 16 Wn. App. 254, 258, 554 P.2d 1069 (1976).  

Rather, the prosecutor has a dut\ ³µto seek a verdict free of prejudice and based on reason.¶´  State 

v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595, 598, 860 P.2d 420 (1993) (quoting State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d 

660, 663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968)).   
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 The prosecutor¶s statement that ³[a] crime has been committed´ was offered as a 

reasonable inference from the evidence the State anticipated presenting.  VRP (Oct. 31, 2018) at 

17.  The remark was made immediatel\ prior to the prosecutor¶s brief statement of the case, 

including an outline of what the State expected its evidence to show.  Furthermore, we have 

previously stated that it is not misconduct for a prosecutor to state that ³µthe defendant is guilt\¶´ 

in an opening statement.  Torres, 16 Wn. App. at 256 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting 

State v. O¶Donnell, 191 Wash. 511, 71 P.2d 571 (1937)).  

 In contrast, the prosecutor¶s statement that ³µI believe that the onl\ answer is the defendant 

is guilt\¶´ is an impermissible personal opinion of guilt.  Br. of Appellant at 20; Torres, 16 Wn. 

App. at 258.  His personal opinion was unnecessary to an outline of anticipated evidence and did 

not constitute a reasonable inference drawn therefrom.  However, even assuming this statement 

was improper, Killian has not established that he was prejudiced.  Given the context in which the 

statement was made, there is no indication that the statement was inflammatory or made to elicit 

an emotional response that caused an enduring prejudice throughout trial.  See Brown, 132 Wn.2d 

at 563.  Moreover, the prosecutor made the statement at the outset of a multiple-day trial.  Thus, 

the statement likely had little to no effect on the jur\¶s verdict.   

 The court instructed the jurors that the law\er¶s statements are not evidence and the\ must 

disregard any remark not supported by the evidence, which was sufficient to obviate any 

prejudicial effect.  We hold that the prosecutor did not repeatedly state his personal opinion on 

Killian¶s guilt, and the prosecutor¶s one remark regarding his personal opinion of guilt during 

opening statement did not result in prejudice that requires a new trial.    
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IV.  INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE 

 Killian argues that insufficient evidence supports his conviction because the State failed to 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Killian knowingly or willfully violated the no-contact order.  

We disagree.  

 The test for determining sufficiency of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence 

in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  State v. Cardenas-Flores, 189 Wn.2d 243, 265, 401 P.3d 19 (2017).  In a 

sufficiency of the evidence claim, the defendant admits the truth of the evidence and the court 

views the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from that evidence in the light most 

favorable to the State.  Id. at 265-66.  Credibility determinations are made by the trier of fact and 

are not subject to review.  Id. at 266.  Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable.  Id.  

 Killian was charged under former RCW 26.50.110 (2017) with knowingly violating a 

domestic violence no-contact order.1  The no-contact order was issued under chapter 10.99 RCW.  

The parties agree that the sole issue at trial was whether Killian knowingly violated the no-contact 

order.  In order to secure a conviction under former RCW 26.50.110, the State must prove a 

³[w]illful violation´ of a protection order.  RCW 10.99.050(2)(a).  To act willfull\ means to act 

³knowingl\ with respect to the material elements of the offense.´  RCW 9A.08.010(4).  The 

restrained party does not violate a no-contact order if the party accidentally or inadvertently 

                                                 
1 Killian was charged under former RCW 26.50.110(5), which states that any violation of a 
protection order under former RCW 26.50.110 is a class C felony if the offender has two previous 
convictions for violating a protection order also issued pursuant to former RCW 26.50.110.  Killian 
does not dispute that he has two previous convictions for violating a protection order under former 
RCW 26.50.110.   
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contacts the subject of the order and immediately breaks off the contact.  State v. Sisemore, 114 

Wn. App. 75, 78, 55 P.3d 1178 (2002).   

 Killian argues that there is insufficient evidence to support a finding that he knowingly 

violated the no-contact order because the evidence established that his contact was accidental and 

he immediately broke off the contact.  However, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to 

the State, a rational trier of fact could have found Killian knowingly violated the no-contact order.   

 The no-contact order restrained Killian from knowingly entering, remaining, or coming 

within 500 feet of Wilson¶s residence.  While Killian ma\ have been walking on the street where 

Wilson¶s home was located for an innocent purpose, the State presented evidence that Killian knew 

which mobile home belonged to Wilson and intentionally entered the area around her home in 

violation of the no-contact order.  Wilson testified that she told Killian what mobile home park she 

lived in, and on the day in question a car familiar to Killian was parked near her home.  Thus, one 

could make a reasonable inference that Killian presumed that the home was Wilson¶s and still 

proceeded to her front door.  The evidence established that Killian entered the gate located near 

Wilson¶s front door and began climbing the stairs leading to her front door, well within 500 feet 

of Wilson¶s home.   

 Moreover, even if Killian¶s contact with Wilson was inadvertent, the State presented 

evidence that Killian did not immediately break it off.  Instead, Wilson testified that she told Killian 

that he had to leave, but Killian said that he wanted to tell her something and inferred that the no-

contact order had expired.   

 Viewing this evidence in the light most favorable to the State, we hold that the evidence 

was sufficient for a reasonable jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Killian knowingly 
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violated the no-contact order.  Accordingly, we hold that there was sufficient evidence to support 

Killian¶s conviction.  

V.  INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

 Killian argues that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his counsel did 

not investigate his mental illness or raise his mental capacity as a mitigating factor at sentencing.  

The State argues that we should not consider Killian¶s argument due to an insufficient record on 

appeal.  We agree with the State.    

 The reviewing court will not consider matters outside the record on direct appeal.  State v. 

Linville, 191 Wn.2d 513, 525, 423 P.3d 842 (2018).  Issues that require consideration of evidence 

or facts not in the trial record are more properly the subject of a personal restraint petition.  Id.; 

State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 338, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 

Killian argues that his counsel performed deficiently because any reasonable attorney 

would have investigated his mental illness and raised diminished capacity as a mitigating factor at 

sentencing.  Killian points to his siblings¶ statements at the sentencing hearing.  Both siblings 

stated that Killian suffers from a diagnosed mental illness that impacts his ability to recognize 

reality and that he was not taking his medication when the incident in question occurred.  However, 

following his siblings¶ statements at the sentencing hearing, Killian e[pressed to the court that he 

had inquired about ³mental health court,´ but told the court that ³I just have a hard time making a 

decision.  Even when I¶m on m\ medication, an\ plea agreements -- I couldn¶t weigh them out.´  

5 VRP at 249. 

 Here, the onl\ evidence in the record pertaining to Killian¶s mental health is his siblings¶ 

statements and Killian¶s statement regarding mental health court at the sentencing hearing.  
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Killian¶s own comments suggest that his counsel did investigate Killian¶s mental health and 

presented Killian with a plea agreement that involved mental health services.  However, as the 

State points out, the record on appeal does not make clear what investigation Killian¶s counsel 

ma\ have conducted pertaining to Killian¶s mental illness.  Thus, we cannot determine from the 

record whether and to what degree counsel actually explored raising a claim pertaining to Killian¶s 

mental health as a mitigating circumstance at sentencing.  See Linville, 191 Wn.2d at 525.   

 Without more information regarding Killian¶s mental illness, we are not in a position to 

analyze this claim.  As this matter is beyond the record, we do not address it on appeal.  If additional 

evidence exists supporting this claim, then Killian may produce that evidence in a personal 

restraint petition. See McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 338.   

VI.  CUMULATIVE ERROR 

 Killian argues that even if this court determines that each error he raises on appeal is not 

sufficient for reversal, their cumulative effect denied him a fair trial.  The State argues that Killian 

cannot show cumulative error because Killian cannot show that any error occurred.  We conclude 

that there was no cumulative error. 

 A defendant may be entitled to a new trial when cumulative errors produce a fundamentally 

unfair trial.  Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 766.  As we discussed above, Killian was affected by only one 

error, and he failed to demonstrate the requisite prejudice.  Therefore, the cumulative error doctrine 

does not apply and Killian is not entitled to a new trial.  
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VII. SAG

Killian argues that (1) his counsel rendered ineffective assistance during trial for failing to 

present certain evidence and (2) a bias juror was empaneled on the jury.   

A. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Killian argues he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his counsel (1) did not 

call his daughter as a witness and (2) failed to introduce evidence of his phone calls to his daughter 

and a bank manager.   

There is a strong presumption of effective assistance, and Killian bears the burden of 

demonstrating the absence of a legitimate strategic or tactical reason for the challenged conduct.  

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 336.  Defense counsel¶s reasoning for not calling this witness or 

attempting to introduce this evidence is not contained within our record.  Thus, we cannot conclude 

that counsel lacked a legitimate tactical reason for not doing so.  As noted above, the reviewing 

court will not consider matters outside the record on direct appeal.  Linville, 191 Wn.2d at 525.  

Accordingly, we reject his claims. 

B. VOIR DIRE

Killian states that during voir dire, one juror was a retired jail maintenance employee and 

many jurors were married or related to judges, police officers, correction officers, and probation 

officers.  Killian also states that during voir dire, one juror said that she is a domestic violence 

victim and she didn¶t know if she could be impartial.  Killian does not argue that his counsel should 

have challenged the jurors or that he was prejudiced b\ the jurors; Killian¶s argument implies these 

jurors should have been dismissed.   
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The record indicates one juror experienced domestic violence and two jurors had friends 

who experienced domestic violence.  The potential juror that experienced domestic violence first 

hand was not empaneled.  One of the two jurors that stated that her friend was a victim of domestic 

violence was empaneled.  During voir dire, the juror stated that due to the experience, she was 

unsure if she could be impartial and unbiased.  However, after further inquiry by the court and 

defense counsel, the juror stated on multiple occasions that she would do her best to fairly apply 

the law to the facts.  Killian did not challenge the juror.   

Under RAP 2.5(a), we generally do not entertain issues not raised in the trial court unless 

a party can establish a ³manifest error affecting a constitutional right.´  RAP 2.5(a)(3).  The record 

is insufficient to determine the merits of Killian¶s claim; we cannot determine whether error 

occurred in the first instance, let alone whether it was manifest.  We decline to review this claim.  

State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).   

CONCLUSION 

We hold that the trial court properly allowed the State to reopen its case to allow the 

introduction of the prior conviction stipulation, and Killian waived his claim that the trial court 

violated his right to free exercise of religion.  We also hold that the prosecutor committed 

misconduct during his opening statement by expressing a personal opinion of guilt, but that a 

curative instruction could have neutralized any prejudice.  We hold that the State presented 

sufficient evidence to show that Killian knowingly or willfully violated the no-contact order and 

that the record is insufficient to review Killian¶s ineffective assistance of counsel claim.  Last, we 
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hold that Killian is not entitled to relief under the cumulative error doctrine and we decline to 

review the claims made in the SAG.  Accordingly, we affirm.  

 A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 

  

 CRUSER, J. 
We concur:  
  

WORSWICK, P.J.  

SUTTON, J.  
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